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1 Summary  
This report describes the results of a programme of historic building recording and 

archaeological monitoring carried out between October 2104 and March 2016 by 

Cornwall Archaeological Unit for Kier Infrastructure during widening and extension 

works to St Mary’s Harbour in the Isles of Scilly. 

The existing quay is a Grade II Listed Building comprising the original quay, dating to 

the early seventeenth century, together with a number of subsequent extensions. The 

first extension in 1835‒8 incorporated Rat Island into the structure and provided 

deeper water berths. The construction was of vertically-coursed granite faces founded 

mainly on the granite bedrock or sand overlaying the bedrock. The quay had two 

further extensions, by 40m length in 1889, and by 3m in length and 3m in width in 

1999/94 when the inner quay walls from the Harbourside building to the end of the 

quay were encased in pre-cast concrete blocks fixed to steel girders; the end of the 

quay was also clad with timber buffering. 

The current alterations and extension to the existing quay which were covered by the 

archaeological recording comprised: 

 A 23m long extension to the north-east end of the quay. 

 Quay widening and a new wall to the south west. 

 New pedestrian paving along the quay and groundworks at the rear of the Ticket 

Office. 

The extension to the end of the quay first involved dredging to remove sediment and 

then breaking away the bedrock to provide a level surface. A number of finds were 

recovered but these were chiefly spent .303 cartridges and post-medieval and modern 

ceramics. These were recorded but not retained. The extension did not involve any 

disturbance to the existing quay; precast concrete sections were laid into a ‘receipt’ 

frame and then joined to the existing quay. 

Breaking out of the quay wall for the quay widening construction began in the week 

beginning 27 July 2015 and was completed in the week ending 21 August 2015. The 

demolition works were monitored and a photographic record made of the process. Re-

construction of the wall made use of the existing granite blocks but the keystone has 

been kept separate for future use elsewhere. 

The surface of the existing pedestrian pathway on the quay, laid in c 2005, was very 

uneven and this was re-laid to make it easier for people to walk on. The work was 

completed by June 2015.  Additional groundworks were carried out at the rear of the 

Ticket Office in summer 2016. No archaeological features or finds were recorded during 

these works. 
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Fig 1 Location map. 

 

 

 

Fig 2 Outline scope of the project. 
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2 Introduction 

2.1 Project background 

Planning application P/12/096/LBC was for ‘proposed demolitions, alterations and 

extensions to existing buildings to provide enhanced passenger and freight facilities at 

St Mary’s Harbour (Fig 1).  Extension of main pier towards north east, widening of quay 

wall to south west to improve access to freight yard. This application was approved 

subject to a number of conditions. Condition 6 refers to requirements for archaeological 

recording in advance of and during the works. 

In September 2014 the Cornwall Archaeological Unit (CAU) was commissioned by 

Caroline Leatherdale on behalf of Kier Infrastructure to carry out the necessary 

archaeological work. A brief outlining the required historic building recording and 

archaeological work had been prepared by Dan Ratcliffe, the local Historic Environment 

Planning Advice Officer (see Appendix 1) and a Written Scheme of Investigation was 

prepared by CAU (Appendix 2) which was approved by the local planning authority.  

2.2 Project scope 

The outline scope of the alterations and extension to the existing quay which were 

covered by the archaeological recording are shown on Figure 2. These comprised: 

 A 23m long extension to the end of the quay at the north east. 

 Quay widening and a new wall to the south west. 

 New pedestrian paving along the quay. 

This recording work did not cover the refurbishment of the Harbourside Building or 

repairs to the quay surface necessitated by storm damage in early 2014. 

2.3 Aims 

2.3.1 Building recording 

The aim of the historic building recording was to make an Historic England Level 2 – 3 

photographic and descriptive record of those parts of St Mary’s Harbour which would be 

affected by the development, taking into account: 

 Site layout and organisation  

 Function 

 Materials, method of construction  

 Fenestration  

 Internal arrangements  

 Original fixtures and fittings  

 Subsequent fixtures and fittings  

 Evidence of use and status  

 Ephemeral evidence of occupation and use for instance any evidence of historic 

graffiti  

 Date/period of initial build and subsequent alterations  

The building recording was not intended to produce a comprehensive analysis of the 

quay but to produce evidence capable of later further analytical development. 

2.3.2 Archaeological recording 

The site specific aims of the watching brief were to: 

 Establish the presence/absence of archaeological remains. 

 Determine the extent, condition, nature, character, date and significance of 

any archaeological remains encountered. 
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 To establish the nature of the activity on the site. 

 To identify any artefacts relating to the occupation or use of the site. 

 To provide further information on the archaeology of the St Mary’s Harbour 

from any archaeological remains encountered. 

2.4 Methods 

2.4.1 Desk–based assessment 

During the desk-based assessment historical databases and archives were consulted in 

order to obtain information about the history of the site and the structures and features 

that were likely to survive. The main sources consulted were as follows: 

 Cornwall and Scilly HER 

 Images of England online listed buildings database 

 Early maps and photographs (see Section 10.1)  

 Published histories (see Section 10.2) 

2.4.2 Historic building recording fieldwork 

Photography was a primary recording medium. Archive quality (monochrome film-

based) photographs were taken with a 35mm SLR camera fitted with appropriate 

lenses. Digital photographs were taken using a high resolution camera. 

2.4.3 Watching brief fieldwork 

The watching brief was carried out according to the methodology set out in the Written 

Scheme of Investigation (WSI) for the work (Appendix 2), based on the brief for 

archaeological recording by the Historic Environment Planning Advice Officer Adviser, 

Cornwall Council (Appendix 1).  

2.4.4 Post-fieldwork 

The monochrome photos were processed by a photographic laboratory and the results 

output as a conventional contact sheet as well as scanning to CDR. Digital photos were 

processed using Adobe Photoshop Elements software. A selection of representative 

colour photos has been included in this report. 

 

3 Location and setting 
St Mary’s is the largest of the islands of Scilly being approximately 4km long by 3km 

wide. It has the largest population of the islands with about 80% of the total 

population, and it is the hub of commercial and social life. The main settlement, Hugh 

Town, is situated on a narrow sandy tombolo towards the south-west of the island and 

St Mary’s Harbour is on the north side of Hugh Town (Fig 1). 

The existing quay comprises the original early seventeenth century quay (NGR SV 

90133 10729 to 90237 10729) together with a number of subsequent extensions (SV 

90188 10742 to 90222 10906). The first extension in 1835‒8 incorporated Rat island into 

the structure and provided deeper water berths. The quay had two further extensions, 

by 40m length in 1889 and by 3m in length and 3m in width in 1994 (Scott Wilson 

Fitzpatrick & Co Ltd 2005, 2-1). 
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4 Designations 
The quay at St Mary’s Harbour is a Grade II Listed Building (Fig 3). The Listing 

description includes ‘Quay and breakwater. Begun by Francis Godolphin soon after 

1601, rebuilt 1740 and 1748; new pier extending north to Rat Island built 1835-8 for 

Augustus Smith, Lord Proprietor of the Islands; lengthened 1889 for the flower trade. 

Granite rubble to earlier arm into harbour partly in vertically-coursed dry stonewall 

technique, and shaped granite blockwork to later arms. Breakwater has canted wall on 

sea side.  

Two granite piers at south entrance and cast-iron upturned cannon reused as bollards. 

The construction of a pier for the new harbour, St. Mary's Port, was associated with the 

fortification of the Hugh begun by Godolphin which included Star Castle and the 

Garrison walls’. 

 

Fig 3 Map showing the Listed components of St Mary’s quay (shaded yellow). 
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Fig 4 An early nineteenth-century reproduction of a view of Hugh Town taken in 1669 

(Magalotti 1821, facing page 112) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Fig 5 The 1830s extension to the quay shown on an 1862 plan of Hugh Town by 

Captain George Williams and Mr J S Wells (Sourced from the UK Hydrographic Office, 

www.ukho.gov.uk). 

http://www.ukho.gov.uk/
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5 Site history 
Hugh Town owes its origins to the construction of Star Castle and associated structures 

in the 1590s and of the quay in c 1601 on the sheltered northern side of the island 

directly below the gateway to the military complex (Fig 4; Bowden and Brodie 2011) — 

the proximity of a medieval chapel to the location of the new quay suggests that this 

may already have been an established landing place (Kirkham, forthcoming).  

The original early seventeenth century quay was rebuilt in 1749–51, ‘At the west end of 

the town a pier was built about the year 1601, which was become very ruinous; it was 

rebuilt by the late Earl of Godolphin, in an elegant manner at the expense of eleven 

hundred pounds. It was begun in the year 1749, and finished in 1751; it is som[e] 

hundred and thirty feet long, twenty feet wide in the narrowest part, twenty-three wide 

at the pier head, as many high from the foundation, and has there sixteen feet water at 

spring tide, and ten at neap tide; it will secure vessels of one hundred and fifty tons 

burden, not only close to the quay, but also along the strand of the town’ (Troutbeck nd 

[c 1794], 38).  

The lease of Scilly taken up in 1834 by Augustus Smith required completion of a new 

church and a large extension to Hugh Town quay. (Fig 5) Both were achieved before 

the end of the 1830s — the New Quay being extended out to Rat Island with a 

monumental entranceway built on Old Quay — and marked the beginning of a 

significant period of change for the town. The St Mary’s stonemason Robert Maybee, 

born in 1810, recalled the period following Smith’s arrival in Scilly: ‘It was the time the 

new pier was building . . . and the new church . . . and most of the big houses were 

being built at the same time’ (Maybee 1884, 15).  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Fig 6 St Mary’s Harbour in c 1875, with a lifeboat from the wrecked Schiller in the 

foreground. The quay was extended by 40m in 1889 (© Gibson Collection). 

 

In 1889 Augustus Smith’ heir, T A Dorrien Smith — known as Algy — extended the 

quay by 40m length in 1889 to serve the fishing and the rapidly expanding flower 

trades. The Duchy made improvements in 1926, when the café (now the Harbourside 

building) was built, and also in 1970; the emphasis then being on holiday passengers 

transported on the Scillonian II or on the tripper boats to the off islands (Gill 1975, 

110). 

The quay underwent massive improvements throughout the winter of 1993/4 when it 

was extended by 3m in length and 3m in width to facilitate modern handling methods 
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and tourists. The inner quay walls from the harbourside building to the end of the quay 

were encased in pre-cast concrete blocks fixed to steel girders; the end of the quay was 

also clad with timber buffering. At this time the quay was resurfaced and a cannon, 

reputed to be from HMS Colossus, wrecked in 1798, which had been used a mooring 

bollard since being salvaged in 1857 was removed to make way for more modern 

fixtures (Gibson nd, 15–16). The surface of the pedestrian pathway along the quay was 

again re-laid by Dean and Dyball Construction Ltd in c 2005, but it proved to be uneven 

and uncomfortable to walk on. 

 

6 Previous archaeological work 
A baseline archaeological assessment was carried out in 2005 as part of the 

‘Environmental Statement’ for previous development proposals for the quay (Scott 

Wilson Kirkpatrick & Co Ltd 2005).  

As part of the archaeological assessment, geophysical survey data was acquired 

between 30 October and 1 November 2004 from the survey vessel MV Enterprise by 

Titan Environmental Surveys Ltd. The survey area was located around the quay at St 

Mary’s Harbour near Rat Island. The survey area was rectangular, 500m long and 600m 

wide orientated N-S between 89900E, 11200N and 90500E, 10700N (OSGB). The 

geophysical data comprised sidescan sonar, sub-bottom profiler and single beam 

echosounder data and was reviewed by Wessex Archaeology in order to determine the 

archaeological potential of the survey area (Baggaley 2004). 

The review identified 15 sidescan sonar anomalies to the north-west of the current 

quay, all of which were considered to be of low archaeological potential (Baggaley 

2004, appendix 1, fig 2). The engine of the Sunderland MK IIIv DD838 Flying Boat from 

1944 is thought lie to about 10m to the west, or possibly north-west, of the quay. None 

of the geophysical survey anomalies could be confidently identified as an aircraft 

engine. However it was considered possible that the sidescan sonar anomalies to the 

north-west of the quay (WA3006, WA3007, WA3014 and WA3015) could be the aircraft 

engine (Baggaley 2004, 5). Otherwise it was considered unlikely that these anomalies 

relate to archaeological remains in the area and were probably underwater debris 

which, if necessary, could be moved during the construction works (Scott Wilson 

Kirkpatrick & Co Ltd 2005, 5-11).  

All of these anomalies lay outside of the current quay extension footprint, so inspection 

of the debris by an archaeological diver was not required in the brief for archaeological 

recording (Appendix 1). 

The environmental appraisal (Massey 2004) and the interpretation of the geophysical 

survey data also indicated that the potential for peat and submerged 

palaeoenvironmental deposits in the study area was low. 

No specific formal archaeological desk based assessment was submitted in support of 

the application although the AECOM Environmental Statement Addendum supporting 

the application noted the following relevant evidence: 

 This quay was extended out to Rat Island in the 1830s, extended again in the 

late 19th century, and further widened and extended in 1994.  

 Before the construction of the pier, Rat Island had housed a blockhouse and a 

limekiln, while sections of the island are reported to have been quarried to 

produce stone for the Bishop Rock lighthouse which was started in 1858 and 

heightened in 1882. 

 A pillbox was constructed on Rat Island during World War Two, while the 

remains of an engine from a Sunderland flying boat have also been recorded to 

the west or north-west of the pier, although this does not lie in its original 

position as it was moved to its present location to stop it being an underwater 

hazard/obstruction.  This latter site was found to be in area of anomalies 

identified during geophysical survey (Baggaley 2004). 
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 Numerous onion bottle pontills have been recovered from the bay and it has 

been suggested that these are from a wreck that has not been identified thus 

far. 

 A quernstone and other items have been recovered from the area around Rat 

Island. 

 An iron chain and anchor form the Kitty O’Flanaghan, which was wrecked on the 

island in 1938, is still in the area and may indicate where the wreck lies. 

 Pottery has been recovered from the area of the current pier which may denote 

an earlier submerged site. 

 Recent work has involved removal of the upper surface of the pier and the core 

of the pier was found to contain guns and tree stumps with the sea visible in the 

bottom (see Gibson nd, 16).  

  

7 Historic building recording 
A visit was made to St Mary’s Harbour in October 2014, to undertake the equivalent of 

a Level 2 historic building record (a photographic and descriptive record) of the sections 

of quay that will be altered by the development. Specifically this was the end of the 

quay at the north east and the area of wall to be demolished during the quay widening 

at the south west as well as the pedestrian walkway (Figs 7–14). A boat was provided 

by Kier, by arrangement with the harbourmaster, to enable the photographic recording 

the end of the quay. 

The two arms of the quay represent significant pieces of historic engineering. The older, 

c 1601, structure, approximately 100m long by 12m wide, is particularly distinctive 

with its facing of large vertically-set coursed rubble and surface of weathered cobbles. 

The quality of construction making up the late 1889 century portion and breakwater 

walling at the landward end is also impressive, being of vertically-coursed, squared 

granite faces founded mainly on the granite bedrock or sand overlaying the bedrock.  

During the winter of 1993/94, the seaward extension of the quay was encased in pre-

cast concrete blocks fixed to steel girders in (Gibson nd, 15–16) so that none of the 

earlier structure is visible (Figs 8 and 9). The end of the quay was also clad with timber 

buffering at this time (Figs 10 and 11). 
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Fig 7 The Harbourside buildings and quay (photo: Eric Berry). 

 

Fig 

8 End of the quay (photo: Eric Berry). 
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Fig 9 Detail of pre-cast concrete blocks facing the inner side of the quay (photo: Eric 

Berry). 

 

Fig 10 Vertical timber buffering at the end of the quay (photo: Eric Berry). 
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Fig 11 The outer side of the end of the quay (photo: Eric Berry). 

 

Fig 12 The outer side of the quay with the Scillonian berthed (photo: Eric Berry). 
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Fig 13 The area to be widened at the back of the quay (photo: Eric Berry). 

 

Fig 14 Detail of the area to be widened at the back of the quay (photo: Eric Berry). 
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8 Archaeological monitoring 

8.1 Quay extension 

Work on the 23m extension to the quay was scheduled to begin on 5 January 2015 

using an excavator on a barge to dredge the area at the end of the quay (Fig 15). 

However, bad weather and mechanical problems delayed the commencement of 

dredging until early March. Dredging involved removing the sediment on the seabed 

and then breaking away the bedrock to provide a level surface. The excavated material 

was moved to a storage area at Porthloo by landing craft. The extension did not involve 

any disturbance to the existing quay; precast concrete sections, brought from 

Plymouth, were laid into a ‘receipt’ frame and then joined to the existing quay (Figs 16 

– 18). 

The last set of concrete sections were laid during the week ending 21 August 2015. 

8.2 Quay widening 

High levels of legacy pollution were found in samples of sand and silt taken between 

the fuel yard and the Mermaid car park in early December 2014 and this contamination 

caused delay to the widening at the rear of the quay (Fig 19) which was to be carried 

out using concrete blocks anchored into the bedrock.  

The breaking out of the quay wall in anticipation of the quay widening construction 

works commenced in the week beginning 27 July 2015 and was completed in the week 

ending 21 August 2015 (Fig 20) when construction of the ramp commenced (Fig 21). 

The dredged material at Porthloo was used as backfill within the quay widening works 

and to create a temporary working platform.  

The demolition works were monitored and a photographic record made of the process 

(Figs 22 and 23). The construction made use of the existing granite blocks but the 

keystone has been kept separate for future use elsewhere (Fig 24). 

8.3 Pedestrian pathway and other groundworks 

The surface of the pedestrian pathway laid by Dean and Dyball Construction Ltd in 

c 2005 was very uneven (Fig 25) so this was re-laid to make it easier to walk on (Fig 

26). The work completed by May 2015.  

Groundworks to the rear of the Harbourside building were also monitored (Fig 27). No 

archaeological features were uncovered. 

8.4 Finds summary report 

Because of the duration of the project and low potential for archaeological remains it 

was impractical to carry out a continuous watching brief to monitor for finds. The 

stockpiled dredged material at Porthloo was inspected for finds by the project 

archaeologist (Figs 28). Other finds were reported to the Isles of Scilly Museum by Kier 

workers. The finds chiefly comprised spent .303 cartridges, post-medieval and modern 

ceramics, glass bottles and metal objects including a knife handle and lamp fitting (Figs 

29 and 30). The finds were recorded but not retained except for a complete late 19th 

century ink bottle made by J Bourne & Son of Denby (Fig 31). The Bourne company 

dates back to 1806, when William Bourne, a local entrepreneur, learned of the 

exceptional clay discovered during construction of a road in Derbyshire. He acquired a 

piece of land and production of the pottery was started in 1809, with William Bourne's 

son, Joseph at the helm. The ‘J. Bourne & Son’ mark was not used until about 1850. 
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Fig 15 The dredge vessel (photo: CAU). 

 

Fig 16 The jack-up barge and large Liebherr crane at the end of the quay on 19 July 

2015, almost ready for the pre-cast concrete sections to be put in place (photo: CAU). 
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Fig 17 The new pre-cast concrete sections in place, 20 September 2015 (photo: CAU) 

 

 

Fig 18 The end of the quay, 20 September 2015 (photo: CAU). 
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Fig 19 Quay widening scope (Kier). 

 

 

 

Fig 20 Breach in the quay wall, showing the wall structure (photo: Rients Jan 

Veldkamp). 
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Fig 21 Ramp construction underway (photo: Rients Jan Veldkamp). 

 

 

 

Fig 22 Backfilling of the quay widening area (photo: Rients Jan Veldkamp). 
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Fig 23 Quay widening works viewed from the Garrison, September 2016 (photo: CAU). 

 

 

 

Fig 24 Rebuilding the quay wall (photo: Rients Jan Veldkamp). 
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Fig 25 The old uneven pedestrian walkway (photo: Eric Berry). 

 

Fig 26 The pedestrian walkway being re-laid, May 2015 (photo: CAU). 
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Fig 27 Groundworks behind the Harbourside building in July 2015 (Photo: CAU) 

 

Fig 28 Inspecting the stockpiled dredged material at Porthloo for archaeological finds, 

May 2015 (photo: Jacqui Ramsden). 
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Fig 29 Spent .303 rifle cartridge, May 2015 (photo: CAU). 

 

Fig 30 Artefacts dredged up during the quay extension works (photo: CAU). 
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c  

Fig 31 Nineteenth century ink bottle dredged up during the quay extension works 

(photo: Jacqui Ramsden) 

 

9 Conclusions 
The quay is a Listed Building and therefore by definition a historic structure that is of 

national importance. The historic building and archaeological monitoring were required 

by the archaeological condition attached to approval of the planning application for the 

St Mary’s Harbour Works to mitigate against potential impacts identified by the 

planning application: 

1. A low but potentially significant potential for the works to affect any submerged 

peat deposits present — no submerged peat deposits were affected by the 

current work.  

2. The concealment of any evidence of stone working and / or loss of any buried 

archaeological evidence on Rat Island — no evidence of stone working or any 

other buried archaeological evidence was uncovered on Rat island by the current 

works. 

3. Disturbance or loss of the remains of the Sunderland Flying Boat engine — the 

exact location of the Sunderland Flying Boat engine remains unclear but it was 

not disturbed by the current work. 

4. Potential disturbance of any as yet unrecorded but postulated wrecks — no 

unrecorded wreck sites were disturbed by the current works. 

5. The loss of elements of the built fabric of the Listed quay including the parapet 

wall to be demolished and the resurfacing works — the parapet wall was broken 

through for the quay widening but the demolition works were monitored and a 

photographic record made of the process. The re-construction of the wall made 

use of the existing granite blocks. The original surface of the quay had been 

removed and replaced, and the core below disturbed, during the 1993/1994 

works. The current re-surfacing works did not damage any of the original fabric 

of the quay. 
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Appendix 2: Written Scheme of Investigation 
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